

Zurich impact measurement framework

Methodology paper – Update I



Impact investments have come into their own as an investment approach in recent years. Projections for growth vary, but despite uncertainties around the actual volume of such investments, and how they are defined, demand is increasing. At Zurich Insurance Group (Zurich), we define **impact investing** as investment opportunities that allow us to **intentionally** target a specific social or environmental impact, provide a **measurable impact**, and generate a **financial return** commensurate with their risk. We as an insurer serve an important role in society, providing protection and helping companies and individuals to protect against risk. By extension, we believe that impact investments have the potential to drive positive changes.

To achieve that, having clear processes and guidelines in place to calculate the impact that defines this investment approach is essential.

Our experiences in this regard may also serve as guidance for others who have engaged in similar journeys. We believe that sharing how we have set out to calculate the real impact of these investments could also lead others to measure their impact and link their investments to positive outcomes.

Contents

Section 1	Zurich Insurance Group as an impact investor	3			
1.1. Scope of impact portfolio					
1.2. Why we	measure	5			
Section 2 First step: gathering reported impact numbers					
2.1 Definition of metrics					
2.2. Standardizing impact numbers					
2.3. Reporting structures					
Section 3	Second step: aggregating on portfolio level, across asset				
classes		10			
3.1. Fixed income					
3.2. Private equity					
3.3. Infrastru	cture private debt	11			
Section 4	Timing	13			
Section 5	Limitations	15			
Section 6	Conclusion	17			
Section 7	Learnings	19			
Appendix Example					

Section 1 Zurich Insurance Group as an impact investor

At Zurich, being a responsible and sustainable company, is at the foundation of our business. Responsible investment forms a key element of Zurich's investment philosophy and comprises three elements:

- 1. ESG-integration: Proactively integrating environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors in the investment process – across asset classes and alongside traditional financial metrics and state-of-the-art risk management practices.
- 2. Impact investing: Through impact investing, Zurich can help fund solutions to pressing social or environmental issues.
- 3. Advancing together: We believe that responsible investment will only truly have an impact if financial market participants' advance together to make responsible investment a mainstream approach.

As an insurer, we have a direct interest in promoting sustainable global economic growth and supporting communities in becoming more resilient to environmental and social challenges. Impact investments can help address these issues in a targeted way, and also offer a financial return commensurate with risks. We define impact investing as investment opportunities that allow us to *intentionally* target a specific positive social or environmental impact and allow us to *measure* the impact achieved; these are *profitable*, meaning that they generate a financial return commensurate with their risk.

Responsible Investment



Through our impact investments we target positive outcomes in two main ways:

- Mitigating environmental risks by supporting a low-carbon economy and encouraging environmentallyfriendly technologies, measured in terms of 'reduced/avoided CO2 emissions.'
- Increasing community resilience by helping to build 'community capital,' and addressing the needs of populations that lack traditional means to achieve such goals (the 'under-served populations'), measured in terms of 'the number of people who benefited.'

We acknowledge that for an investment to be counted as an 'impact investment,' it is the inherent impact that an investment can achieve that we must consider. It is important to 'measure what matters' using various impact metrics, based on how relevant or applicable they are for various types of investments.

However, for our purposes we focus on two metrics – 'CO2 emissions avoided' and ' people benefited' – as we see these numbers being regularly collected and reported by market participants, and these metrics are relevant for different project categories, making them available to be added across asset classes and instruments. Through its impact investing portfolio, Zurich aims to avoid five million tons of CO2 equivalent emissions per year, and, separately, make a positive contribution to the lives and livelihoods of five million people.

1.1. Scope of impact portfolio

Zurich evaluates impact investments within the context of specific asset classes and creates dedicated strategies for impact investment within each of those asset classes. While continuing to make systematic use of environmental, social and governance (ESG) data in investment decision-making, we look at a variety of ways to grow our impact investment portfolios around the world. We focus on the following asset classes:

- Fixed income: use-of-proceed bonds encompassing green, social and sustainability bonds.
- Impact private equity: we will keep working toward achieving our 10-percent impact target in private equity based on our overall private equity portfolio.
- Impact infrastructure private debt: including direct private debt lending toward infrastructure such as solar/ wind farms and social institutions.

1.2. Why we measure

Besides tracking our exposure and targeted returns, we want to know what each of our investments achieves in terms of impact, and measure our contribution toward our impact investment objectives: mitigating environmental risks and increasing community resilience. Measurement helps us make better investment decisions and allows us to communicate our value to our shareholders. It also demonstrates that financial returns can be balanced with environmental and social returns. As the first private-sector investor to commit to specific impact targets, which Zurich did in 2017, we deliberately chose to challenge ourselves to develop a methodology that allows us to measure impact on portfolio level – across asset classes and underlying investment instruments.

Together with BlackRock we developed a standardized approach to aggregate use-of-proceed impact data across various bond issuers along the metrics of 'CO2 emissions avoided' and 'people benefited,' ensuring we only account for the impact we effectively finance.

Section 2

First step: gathering reported impact numbers

Zurich's impact measurement methodology is based on impact data reported by the issuers of impact investing instruments. The issuer or manager is the closest to the project and best placed to have actual raw data or best positioned to make reasonable and adequate assumptions – far better placed than we as an investor not involved in the actual project. While we acknowledge the short-comings of self-reported data, i.e., heterogeneity of assumptions, different base-line assumptions and methodology, we believe this is a better approach than trying to calculate that data ourselves or with the help of external consultants.

2.1 Definition of metrics

As stated, while we do take into account various impact metrics suited to specifications of different impact investments, we focus on two metrics, believing these are the most commonly used, which provide us with an opportunity to aggregate them.

2.1.1. CO2-equivalent emissions

Zurich's impact investment objective 'mitigating environmental risk' is measured in terms of reduced/avoided greenhouse gas emissions.

Data on emissions of greenhouse gases (generally quoted in tons of CO2equivalent emissions) is a commonly used indicator to assess the climate impact of an asset as established by the IFI harmonized framework.

'Avoided' CO2 emissions are calculated against a baseline scenario that reflects the most likely project outcomes or level of service achieved in the higher-carbon status quo of the economy (also referred to as 'net' or 'relative' emissions; subtracting the baseline emissions from the absolute, or gross emissions, equals the emissions 'reduced/avoided').

2.1.2. People benefited

To measure our social objective to 'increase community resilience,' we count the number of people who have benefited from services in education, health, housing or financial inclusion and other measures aimed at improving lives, improvements that are directly related to Zurich's investments. Unlike to 'CO2 emissions avoided,' there is no common market definition for 'people benefited.' While the metric is commonly reported, looking into the reported details is important, and it is necessary to set one's own standard.

In our measure of 'number of people who benefited,' we only count those individuals who are part of a specific targeted audience that previously was unable to access those services. We seek the definition for the target audience reported in the impact report. By and large we would look at an audience that benefits from services in education, health, housing or financial inclusion, but other target groups could also be considered.

Zurich aims to measure the actual number of people benefited, as opposed to the potential audience, the latter called 'catchment.' However, we realize that for some projects, the real number of beneficiaries might be difficult to capture, e.g., a bicycle path that can be used by the population of an entire city. Where only 'catchment' numbers are provided, we not this in our impact report.

Zurich measures the number of individuals benefiting from a service and/or product. As the term 'benefiting' suggests, the service and/or product need not be directly related to the individual(s) who benefit. We take a more cautious approach for education and health, where we only take the direct link from service/ product to the people who have directly benefited. However, validated academic research leads one to conclude that by providing a micro loan to an individual improves not only the quality of life for that individual, but also for their families. Hence, we propose to take household size as a multiplier for financial inclusion. In cases where household sizes are indicated, e.g., often being the case in energy or housing, we also use the national household multiplier.

The following multipliers are applied:

Health:

1 hospital bed = 1 individual benefited

Education:

1 pupil/desk = 1 individual benefited

Financial inclusion:

1 customer = national household size

Social housing:

1 flat = national household size

Energy:

1 household = national household size

Community = 2 individuals

Households =

national household multiplier

A good source for national household multiplier is: Household Size and Composition Around the World 2017

2.2. Standardizing impact numbers

We are aware that, by using selfreported numbers and measuring impact through two rather broad impact metrics, we are summing up a heterogeneous field of impact numbers ('adding up apples and pears'). By applying a strict definition of what an impact investment is and looking into the wider set of impact metrics for specific investments, we can be fairly sure that the quality of our impact investments is upheld.

However, to aggregate across portfolios and asset classes, a certain standardization is necessary. We have identified two areas we believe are of special importance: annualization and pro-rata shares.

2.2.1 Annualization

Zurich wants to be able to match an investment's impact to a portfolio's invested amount over a series of years. We thus seek to provide impact numbers on an annualized basis, rather than calculating the impact over the entire life of the project, or over the financing period. It is in our own best interest to report only the impact of what we effectively finance. While we hold most impact investments to maturity, we also may trade some of our investments. As we report on an annual basis, reporting the impact at a specific cut-off date seems appropriate (for us, the date is December 31).

While we acknowledge that the marginal impact of an underlying asset might change as the asset matures (e.g., decreasing impact with changing base-line numbers), the average – hence annualized – impact data over an asset life-cycle will provide a balance of the ramp-up and the full operation period.

2.2.2 Pro-rata/avoiding double counting

To make sure we count only the impact an impact investor is financing, impact investors are encouraged to report prorata shares. If an impact investor claims the full positive impact of every project, the impact investor would overstate his or her achievement.

Fixed-income: For use-of-proceed bond issuers, the pro-rata share is calculated as the impact based on the share of the total project cost that is eligible for the specific use-of-proceed bond.

 Sum of pro-rata impact of issuer = Total project impact × % Share of total project financing × % Eligibility for use-of-proceed bond (a1)

Private equity: The pro-rata share is based on the fund's ownership structure within the relevant portfolio company

 Pro-rata impact of private equity funds = Total portfolio company impact × % Fund ownership in portfolio company (a2).

Impact infrastructure private debt (a3) is described below in chapter 3.3.

2.3. Reporting structures

Depending on how proceeds are allocated, there may be differences in the impact reporting approach.

2.3.2 Allocations to a portfolio of projects (project pool)

This approach is often seen in impact reports of use-of-proceed instruments issed by supranational organizations, as they frequently have a specific pool of their own projects.

Allocated currency ('CCY') amount:

 Summarized outstanding CCY up to and including the date referred to in the impact report (excluding matured issuances) (b1.1) e.g., the 'March 2018 issued impact report refers' to an impact achieved in 2017, includes outstanding issuance up to and including December 31, 2017. Summarized outstanding CCY is relevant, given that not only the most recently issued bond, but also the invested capital in the project 'pool,' contributed to the full reported impact.

2.3.1 Allocations to individual projects

Project-by-project report vs. portfolio report based on portfolio allocations.

- **Project-by-project report:** Identifies the specific projects and clearly defines, for each project, the total results of the project (including financing from all financiers), providing information about the total project size and/or the issuer's share of total financing.
 - If the impact numbers are reported by project, the pro-rata impact numbers a1) need to be consolidated.
- **Portfolio report:** Aggregates projectby-project results, but includes only the pro-rated share (as a percentage of the issuer's share of the total financing) of total results of projects.

Applicable for:

- Use-of-proceed issuers mainly corporate issuers – that allocate their proceeds to specific projects, reported per International Securities Identification Number (ISIN).
- Private equity funds, when projects refer to portfolio companies. Preferably the fund reports company-by-company.

Allocated CCY amount:

- Use-of-proceed issuers: outstanding CCY of those bonds where impact is reported (per ISIN) (b1.2), taking the sum of all outstanding CCY if the issuer has several bonds outstanding with respective reported impact.
- Private equity funds: Fund capital raised (b2).

The outstanding CCY or fund capital raised is relevant when it comes to matching the underlying projects for which the issuer/manager reports the impact as this amount will be taken as the dominator in the calculation for the pro-rata piece that is Zurich's share. Please see the next step for more detail.



Section 3

Second step: aggregating on portfolio level, across asset classes

Zurich's impact framework methodology looks only at the impact created by Zurich's share of investments, and it is based on the information reported by the issuers of the various impact investing instruments, as stated under the first step.

3.1. Fixed income

For use-of-proceed bond the pro-rata share is based on Zurich's outstanding issuance toward the specific investor. Depended whether the issuer uses the allocation to a portfolio of project or to individual projects this approach varies slightly:

- Allocations to a portfolio of projects: (x) Impact pro-rata for Zurich's share = Full impact of the project pool (a1) × (Zurich outstanding issuance toward specific issuer / full outstanding CCY as of time impact report refers to (b1.1)); or
- Allocations to individual projects:

 (x) Impact pro-rata for Zurich's share
 = Full impact of the issuance (a1) ×
 (Zurich outstanding issuance toward specific issuer / outstanding CCY of issuance (b1.2)) in case in case the issuer has several bonds issued with respective impact reported, reported impact (a1) and outstanding CCY
 (b1.2) should be the sum of all issued and reported bonds, reflecting an average impact number this issuer is able to achieve.

- Summarize (x) for all use-of-proceed issuer in the portfolio (y1).
- Extrapolation: Zurich's use-ofproceed portfolio includes several hundred issuers. Since the gathering of the detailed impact data is very labour intense, we focus on the top issuers by invested amount.
- The scope of the detailed data gathering encompasses 80 percent of Zurich's green bond portfolio as well as 80 percent of its social/sustainability bond portfolio.
- In 2021 we updated our methodology to allow for an extrapolation of impact numbers to cover 100 percent of our use-ofproceed bond portfolio.
- We apply a simple linear extrapolation of the "CO2 avoided" measured for 80 percent of green bonds in terms of market value, to cover 100 percent of our green bond portfolio. The same applies for "people benefited" gathered from 80 precent of our social and sustainability bond portfolio.

3.2. Private equity

In private equity, Zurich's pro-rata share is based on committed capital as percentage of total fund capital raised as of a specific date.

- (x) Impact pro-rata for Zurich's share in specific PE fund = Total impact fund pro-rata share (a2) × (Zurich committed amount / Fund capital raised (b2)).
- Summarize (x) across full Private equity portfolio (y2).

In line with the concept of 'counting the impact for your outstanding amount with an issuer,' we count the impact in private equity investments for the portion of committed capital, knowing that the full committed capital will not be invested from the start of the investment period. This could potentially increase the reported impact, if and when the fund buys into additional companies based on the same amount of committed capital, given that an increasing amount of the total capital will be deployed.

A note of caution: ignoring the debt portion of the portfolio company's financing could lead an equity investor to overstate the impact of investments. Through dialogue with fund managers, we see a pro-rata share method, as proposed, as representing a start to further refinements in overall accountability.

3.3. Infrastructure private debt

Providing debt to an investments does not necessary provide you with access to the full information required to calculate the pro-rata share, i.e. equity portion invested. Hence a few assumptions are required. The assumption for the capital stack is based on conversations we had with asset managers active in the sector.

Proposed pro-rata share structure:

- Assumption on capital stack: 20% equity / 80% debt for infrastructure deals
- (x) Impact pro-rata for Zurich's share
 = Full impact of the project/fund/ issuance (a3) × 80% (Debt portion in capital stack) × (Zurich's share of debt/ full project debt)
- Summarize (x) across full infrastructure portfolio (y3)



Section 4

Zurich aggregates the impact numbers on a rolling basis. Impact reports are published by issuers of impact investing instruments throughout the year, depending on their own financial-year end, when they typically report impact.



Apply last reported impact numbers on a rolling basis, report in Q1 FY +1 for Zurich December FY 0 exposure.

Zurich reports its impact in the first quarter of the full year (Q1 FY) +1 for its financial year end 0 (FY 0). The impact refers to the following underlying invested amounts for:

Fixed income:

- Based on outstanding amount to an issuer as per end of December FY 0.
 - This way of accounting allows us to implicitly extrapolate an issuer's impact that was reported for FY -1 by the amount of additional bonds we bought later in the year (during FY 0).
 - For issuers with a 'portfolio of projects (project pool)' allocation approach, this will make no difference, as the impact reported will be approximately the same for FY 0 and FY -1 given the same pool of projects in FY 0 and FY -1.
- For issuers with an 'individual project' allocation approach: in cases where the issuer has several bonds issued – with respective impact reported, reported impact (a1) and outstanding CCY (b1.2) should be the sum of all issued and reported bonds, reflecting the average impact this issuer was able to achieve.

Impact private equity:

- Based on committed amount as of FY 0.
 - FY 0 will be the same as of FY -1, except in the rare cases where we might have bought into the fund on the secondary market or added exposure via a secondary market transaction.

Impact infrastructure private debt:

 Based on exposure as per end of December FY 0.



By no means do we believe this is the 'one and only' approach to calculating the impact of a multi-asset portfolio. While we believe the proposed methodology can be seen as a start, we are aware of the limitations it has, such as the following shortcomings:

- Various baselines and other assumptions.
 - Given we are reporting based on self-reported data by issuers, we disregard – at this stage – different baselines and methodologies when reporting on aggregated CO2 emissions avoided.
 - We recognize it's a shortcoming, but believe this is the best we can use currently by relying on self-reported publicly available information from the issuers.
 - Applying the IFI harmonized framework sheds light on the assumptions issuers/impact investors have used and ensures a certain alignment in methodology, applicable one-to-one for use-of-proceed bonds. It can also

be used to guide impact investors in other asset classes, i.e., the pro-rata approach in private equity fund reports.

- Discrepancy in timing of impact reported versus the underlying exposure to the investment.
 - Impact reports of issuers may lag by up to one year after date of issue.
 - Hence the impact data of the most recent issues is not included when Zurich calculates its latest level of investments. Hence the implicit extrapolation, described above under timing, is taking account of that.
 - This approach thus very likely underestimates the actual impact, as additional projects have been added during the period in question, and a higher impact might have been achieved from 'learning by doing.'



Section 6 Conclusion

Within the limitations we are aware of – and more to be found out – we see this framework as a start for further development. While we hope others will benefit from our experience and also measure their impact and link their investments to positive outcomes, we are interested to learn from their experiences and share ideas for improvements.

While the methodology presented here aims to take a pragmatic approach without losing important details, it is admittedly a very labor-intensive process. The first hurdle to overcome was sometimes just finding the issuer's reported impact, as this might be included in a sustainability report, an investor presentation or within a specific impact report.

We do have a few ideas on how to make this approach easier, and we also welcome any recommendations from others on how we might improve and strengthen the methodology set out here. And the investment community can also contribute to making things easier:

- Provide your impact reports where they can be readily found! The information and details provided are very relevant.
- Report according to the IFI harmonized framework and be as transparent as possible.
- We need to work together to develop a framework for the social metric 'people benefited.'
- If you report on project level, please report the sums of your impact data and/or provide the underlying excel sheets.

Section 7 Learnings

I

Since we started gathering and reporting aggregated impact data on our impact portfolio, we learnt a lot about data interpretation and discovered positive changes and improvements in impact reporting practice. The key lessons are:

1. The impact J-curve effect,

2. The marginal diminishing effect of impact

3. The effect of more accurate data

The best news first: Impact reports are getting easier to understand, have become more standardized and more material. A testament to the ongoing industry collaboration on devising standards as well as growing experience.

One significant change seen in the more recent publications was an increase in the number of impact investors who chose to report their metrics in terms of 'impact per invested unit of invested capital'. This method of reporting significantly improves data gathering and aggregation for the end investor. It also enables the comparison of different impact investing opportunities in terms of their reported achievements. Given that the depth of impact is also a function of quality and context, comparisons should never be made on the basis of single quantitative KPIs. However, this comparability provides a good starting point for additional gualitative analysis.

Another major learning from experience is that impact measurement – although of a growing portfolio – will with high likelyhood not provide linear results. Impact numbers of an aggregated portfolio are volatile. Here are a few reasons why:

The J-curve of impact investing

Impact is not happening with immediate effect. The allocated use-ofprocees/raised funds first need to be 'put to work', i.e. building the project the investment is allocated to. These projects then need to result in the desired impact, which then needs to be measured and reported, potentially adding a further time lag. Accordingly, the impact investment portfolio builds up before the impact does. In the early years the achieved impact is disassociated with the invested amount as the output - in terms of impact - is built over time. The "J-curve effect" shows the possible time lags between the invested amount and an improved output, i.e. the impact, when measured on a portfolio level.

This "J-curve effect" can also happen on issuer level: If an impact investor with a proven track record of delivering high quality impact projects attracts additional funding based on their success, the reported impact per unit invested of the issuer's portfolio can be artificially lowered between the time of receiving additional funding to deploy (raising overall fund size or amount of bonds outstanding) and having fully materialised the projects and their resulting impact.

This effect might not happen if an exisitng project receives refinancing or an issuer uses the structure of "portfolio of projects" or if an ex-ante estimate of the desired impact can be reported from the beginning.

Marginal diminishing effect

Many impact funds are dedicated to financing renewable energy (eg green bonds, sustainability bonds or infrastructure debt and equity vehicles). With the increasing penetration of renewables in energy grids, the reported impact measure of 'annual CO2e emissions avoided' marginally declines year-on-year. Ironically, in cases like this the declining impact intensity for allocated investments is testament to the progress made on financing the transition and accordingly – good news.

While renewable energy is the most obvious example of this effect, others also exist.

The effect of more accurate reporting

Over the years, we saw impact managers making increased efforts to measure and report actual impact (expost) – once a project has been developed. Comparing ex ante reported assumptions and actual impact created, regularly shows that managers' impact reports originally tend to overstate the actual impact they achieve, especially when assumptions are made before a measurment track record or industry averages have been established and shared. Experience refines assumptions.

With regard to precision, we are also seeing changes in the scope of projects reported. Impact managers are becoming more cautious and somewhat more conservative about the impacts they claim to have financed. And, they show a real desire to ensure that they are not overstating the reported impact of certain projects. That may lead to cases where a manager takes out the reported 'avoided CO2e emissions' because CO2e avoidance was not a direct result of a company's activities, such as in the case where operational improvements did not specifically target the reduction of the company's CO2e footprint.

These are all developments that foster the quality and credibility of impact reporting, even if reported numbers may decrease as a result.

We strongly believe that these developments taken as a whole are good news for the development of the industry.

Appendix Example

I

Illustrative example of green bond impact reporting, allocation on project pool

1. First step: Gathering reported impact numbers

(a1) Sum of pro-rata impact of issuer = Total project impact \times % Share of total project financing \times % Eligibility for use-of-proceed bonds

Impact r	reported	for fina	ncial y	ear 2017
----------	----------	----------	---------	----------

Project	Annual project tCO2e avoided	Loan approved (USDm)	Full project cost (USDm)	% of loan of full project costs	Eligibility for Green Bond (USDm)	% of loan eligible for green bond	Annual pro- rata share tCO2e avoided
1	330,000	50.00	120	42%	16.70	33%	45,925
2	1,000,000	66.08	153	43%	60.06	91%	393,733
3	35,000	40.90	71.6	57%	37.90	93%	18,527
4							
Total							8,472,231

2. Second step: Aggregating on portfolio level, across asset classes

Summarized outstanding CCY up to the date the impact report refers to (excluding matured) (b1.1)

ISIN	Issue date	Maturity	Curr	Amount outstanding (CCY)	Amount outstanding (USD)
XS	21.05.2012	19.05.2016	AUD	Matured	
XS	21.05.2012	21.05.2015	TRY	Matured	
XS	26.08.2014	27.08.2019	NZD	3,000,000	2,133,600
XS	19.03.2015	19.03.2025	USD	500,000,000	500,000,000
XS	16.08.2016	16.08.2019	USD	800,000,000	800,000,000
XS	16.08.2016	14.08.2026	USD	500,000,000	500,000,000
XS	10.08.2017	10.08.2022	USD	750,000,000	750,000,000
XS	10.08.2017	10.08.2027	USD	500,000,000	500,000,000
XS	22.03.2018	22.03.2020	HKD	100,000,000	783,380,000
XS	03.04.2018	03.04.2020	HKD	400,000,000	3,133,520,000
Outstanding	3,052,133,600				

Zurich holds as of December 2018 green bonds of this issuer of USD 295,307,464

Allocations to a portfolio of projects:

- (x) Impact pro-rata for Zurich's share = Full impact of the project pool (a1) \times (Zurich outstanding issuance toward specific issuer / full outstanding CCY as of time impact report refers to (b1.1))
- Impact pro-rata for Zurich's share = 8,472,231 × (295,307,464 / 3,052,133,600) = 819,709

Zurich helped to avoid 819,709 tons of CO2e through the financing of green bonds from this specific issuer.

This publication has been prepared by Zurich Insurance Group Ltd and the opinions expressed therein are those of Zurich Insurance Group Ltd as of the date of writing and are subject to change without notice.

This publication has been produced solely for informational purposes. The analysis contained and opinions expressed herein are based on numerous assumptions concerning anticipated results that are inherently subject to significant economic, competitive, and other uncertainties and contingencies. Different assumptions could result in materially different conclusions. All information contained in this publication have been compiled and obtained from sources believed to be reliable and credible but no representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by Zurich Insurance Group Ltd or any of its subsidiaries (the 'Group') as to their accuracy or completeness.

Opinions expressed and analyses contained herein might differ from or be contrary to those expressed by other Group functions or contained in other documents of the Group, as a result of using different assumptions and/or criteria.

The Group may buy, sell, cover or otherwise change the nature, form or amount of its investments, including any investments identified in this publication, without further notice for any reason.

This publication is not intended to be legal, underwriting, financial investment or any other type of professional advice. No content in this publication constitutes a recommendation that any particular investment, security, transaction or investment strategy is suitable for any specific person. The content in this publication is not designed to meet any one's personal situation. The Group hereby disclaims any duty to update any information in this publication.

Persons requiring advice should consult an independent adviser (the Group does not provide investment or personalized advice).

The Group disclaims any and all liability whatsoever resulting from the use of or reliance upon this publication. Certain statements in this publication are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements that are predictions of or indicate future events, trends, plans, developments or objectives. Undue reliance should not be placed on such statements because, by their nature, they are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties and can be affected by other factors that could cause actual results, developments and plans and objectives to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.

The subject matter of this publication is also not tied to any specific insurance product nor will it ensure coverage under any insurance policy.

This publication may not be reproduced either in whole, or in part, without prior written permission of Zurich Insurance Group Ltd, Mythenquai 2, 8002 Zurich, Switzerland. Zurich Insurance Group Ltd expressly prohibits the distribution of this publication to third parties for any reason. Neither Zurich Insurance Group Ltd nor any of its subsidiaries accept liability for any loss arising from the use or distribution of this publication. This publication is for distribution only under such circumstances as may be permitted by applicable law and regulations. This publication does not constitute an offer or an invitation for the sale or purchase of securities in any jurisdiction.

Z ZURICH[®]